IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

KANE BOYLE,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KITSAP COUNTY

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ELAINE L. WINTERS Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Kane Boyle was convicted of felony harassment of a criminal justice participant for drunken comments he made to a police officer while under arrest for driving while under the influence of alcohol. Boyle's conviction must be dismissed because the State did not produce sufficient evidence that (1) a reasonable person in Boyle's position would have known his statements would be perceived as a threat, (2) that a reasonable criminal justice participant in the officer's position would have interpreted Boyle's statements as a threat, and (3) that it was apparent to the officer that Boyle had the present and future ability to carry out any threats.

Boyle's conviction must also be reversed because jury instruction omitted the statutory requirement that it appear to the criminal justice participant that the defendant had both present and future ability to carry out any threats, violating his constitutional right to due process. In addition, a juror did not reveal her personal experiences in voir dire and then used them in jury deliberations, violating Boyle's constitutional right to a fair and impartial jury.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The State did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Kane Boyle committed harassment of a criminal justice participant.
- 2. Conviction for harassment of a criminal justice participant based only upon speech violated Boyle's federal and state constitutional rights to free speech.
- 3. Instruction 17 relieved the State of proving every element of the crime of felony harassment of a criminal justice participant.
- 4. Instruction 9 relieved the State of proving every element of the crime of felony harassment of a criminal justice participant.
- 5. The trial court erred by refusing to give Boyle's proposed "to convict" instruction for the crime of felony harassment of a criminal justice participant.
- 6. The trial court erred by refusing to give Boyle's proposed instruction defining felony harassment of a criminal justice participant. CP 91.
- 7. The trial court erred by denying Boyle's motion for a new trial based upon the incorrect instructions.
- 8. The trial court erred by denying Boyle's motion for a new trial based upon juror misconduct.

C. <u>ISSUES PERTAINING</u> TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. A defendant may not be convicted of a crime unless the State proves every element of that crime beyond a reasonable doubt. U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. I, §§ 3, 22. Kane Boyle was highly intoxicated, handcuffed, and in the custody of an armed patrol officer when he made statements revealing his opinion that people in the community were going to harm police officers. Based upon these statements, Boyle was convicted of harassment of a criminal justice participant, but the State did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that a reasonable person in his position would believe his statements would be taken as a threat against the police officer. Based upon the independent review of the critical facts required by the First Amendment, must Boyle's conviction be reversed and dismissed? (Assignments of Error 1, 2)
- 2. A defendant may not be convicted of a crime unless the State proves every element of that crime beyond a reasonable doubt. U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. I, §§ 3, 22. The harassment of a criminal justice participant statute requires the State to prove beyond a reasonable doubt (1) that a reasonable criminal justice participant in the position of the person threatened would interpret Boyle's drunken

statements as a threat. In addition, the statute provides that threatening words do not constitute a threat unless it is apparent to the criminal justice participant that the speaker has the "present and future ability to carry out the threat." RCW 9A.46.020(2)(b). Boyle was handcuffed and in the custody of an armed police officer or in jail at the time of his statements, and the officer did not believe Boyle had the present ability to harm him. Based upon an independent review of the critical facts of the case, must Boyle's conviction be dismissed because the State did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that (1) under the circumstances, a reasonable criminal justice participant would interpret Boyle's statements as a threat and (2) it was apparent to the police officer that Boyle had the present ability to carry out any threats. (Assignments of Error 1, 2)

3. The due process clauses of the federal and state constitutions require the State to prove each element of a crime beyond a reasonable doubt. U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. I, §§ 3, 22. The jury may not be instructed in a manner that reduces or eliminates this burden of proof. The harassment of a criminal justice participant statute requires that it appear to the criminal justice participant that the defendant had the "present and future ability to carry out the threat."

RCW 9A.46.020(2)(b). Boyle proposed jury instructions that included this language, but the trial court instead instructed the jury that it need only find that it was apparent to the police officer that Boyle had "the ability to carry out the threat." CP 106, 114. Must Boyle's conviction be reversed because the jury instructions eliminated the requirement that the jury find beyond a reasonable doubt that it appeared to the officer that Boyle had both the present and the future ability to carry out the alleged threats in violation of due process? (Assignments of Error 3-7).

3. The defendant has the due process right to a fair trial with a fair and unbiased jury. U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Cont. art. I §§ 3, 21, 22. Potential jurors are required to honestly answer questions during jury selection, and seated jurors may not use undisclosed information or extrinsic evidence in deliberations. Juror 4 was a nurse who was often threatened by patients, once for 12 hours, but she did not tell the court that she had an experience similar to felony harassment. During deliberations, Juror 4 told the jury that she would be unable to recognize the person who harassed her during a discussion of evidence that the police officer in this case did not remember Boyle during an encounter two months after the arrest. Juror 4 also told the jury that

hospital notes are regularly destroyed because the office patient record is the "legal" document when some jurors were concerned that the police officer in Boyle's case destroyed his notes memorializing Boyle's concerning statements. Must Boyle's conviction be reversed where the trial court used the wrong legal standard and made incorrect conclusions in denying Boyle's motion for a new trial based upon jury misconduct? (Assignments of Error 7-8)

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Patrol officer Stephen Morrison often drove by a popular Port Orchard restaurant and bar in the evening hoping his presence would remind people not to drive while under the influence of alcohol. 2RP 76-77. One evening he saw a man who appeared to be preparing to urinate in the parking lot that served the restaurant and other strip mall businesses. 2RP 75, 78. The man appeared intoxicated, as he was staggering and had to support himself by holding onto his pickup truck. 2RP 78-79. Officer Morrison shined his spotlight on the man, who stopped and returned to his truck. 2RP 79

The officer parked down the aisle and waited several minutes until the pickup backed up out of its parking spot enough to see the

¹ The portions of the verbatim report of proceedings labeled Volume I, II and III will be referred to as 1RP, 2RP, and 3RP. Other volumes will be referred to by date.

patrol car and then pulled back into its parking space. 2RP 80-81. Morrison then hid in the lower level of the parking lot and waited several minutes until the pickup left its parking spot, drove to another level of the parking garage, and parked in front of the restaurant. 2RP 82-83. The path took the car onto a public street for a few feet. 2RP 118-19.

Officer Morrison contacted the driver, Kane Boyle. 2RP 84-85. Boyle had a strong odor of alcohol, flushed face, watery bloodshot eyes, and his speech was slurred. 2RP 87-88. Boyle provided the officer with his license but was confused when asked to provide car registration and insurance information, believing he had already given it to the policeman. 2RP 88. When Boyle refused to take field sobriety tests, the officer arrested him for driving while under the influence of alcohol. 2RP 89.

According to Morrison, Boyle became very angry when he was arrested, placed in handcuffs, and directed to sit in the back of the patrol car. 2RP 90-91. Boyle yelled obscenities, stating, "F*** you swine," "I hope you burn in hell," and "You cops act like you're going to help people, but you just f*** them." 2RP 90. Boyle yelled "F*** you" while the officer read the Miranda warnings. 2RP 92.

patrol car and then pulled back into its parking space. 2RP 80-81. Morrison then hid in the lower level of the parking lot and waited several minutes until the pickup left its parking spot, drove to another level of the parking garage, and parked in front of the restaurant. 2RP 82-83. The path took the car onto a public street for a few feet. 2RP 118-19.

Officer Morrison contacted the driver, Kayne Boyle. 2RP 84-85. Boyle had a strong odor of alcohol, flushed face, watery bloodshot eyes, and his speech was slurred. 2RP 87-88. Boyle provided the officer with his license but was confused when asked to provide car registration and insurance information, believing he had already given it to the policeman. 2RP 88. When Boyle refused to take field sobriety tests, the officer arrested him for driving while under the influence of alcohol. 2RP 89.

According to Morrison, Boyle became very angry when he was arrested, placed in handcuffs, and directed to sit in the back of the patrol car. 2RP 90-91. Boyle yelled obscenities, stating, "F*** you swine," "I hope you burn in hell," and "You cops act like you're going to help people, but you just f*** them." 2RP 90. Boyle yelled "F*** you" while the officer read the Miranda warnings. 2RP 92.

Officer Morrison called for a tow truck for Boyle's pickup and filled out paperwork as the two waited for about 20 minutes for the tow truck to arrive. 2RP 93, 126. He then drove Boyle to the jail where Boyle took the BAC test and was turned over to the jail staff. 2RP 127-28.

While they were in the patrol car and jail, Officer Morrison wrote down some of the things Boyle said "almost verbatim," and transferred them to his police report.² 2RP 94-96, 123-24. The statements were:

People will look you and your family up and do them in. I would never threaten your family. 2RP 96-97.

I would never attack children, but cops and child molesters are fair game. 2RP 97.

People should shoot you guys in the face, and I'll be glad when they do. I would not do it myself, but you know someone will. 2RP 98.

Remember Forza Coffee, it was good stuff. 2RP 98.

You wait and see what happens when I get out. I'm not threatening you. 2RP 99.

I hope your children die. 2RP 100.

Punch me in the face twice. I know you want to. 2RP 100.

Officer Morrison destroyed his notes, but included the statements in his police report. 2RP 124

F*** your face, f***ing swine. Read my record. Read it twice. 3 2RP 101.

I hope you and your family burns [sic] in hell. 2RP 102.

Someone will kill you and your family. I'm not saying it's going to be me, but someone is going to snipe cops and their families. 2RP 102.

Morrison testified he felt threatened by these remarks because of Boyle's intense anger. 2RP 102, 103-04. He was not afraid that Boyle would attempt to hurt him that evening, but he was worried that Boyle might do something when he was released from jail. 2RP 102-03, 136.

Morrison never asked for any backup assistance from his department. 2RP 125. He told his wife to be careful, but did not describe Boyle, and he did not mention anything to his three children. 2RP 135, 145.

The Kitsap County Prosecutor charged Boyle with two counts of felony harassment, one for threats to kill and one for threatening a criminal justice participant CP 69-72; RCW 9A.46.020. The State rested its entire case on the testimony of Officer Morrison, although there were other people in front of the restaurant and in the jail when Boyle was ranting. 2RP 121, 126-27. Boyle called one witness who

³ Over objection, the officer testified that Boyle's record included a prior assault. 2RP 54, 60-61, 101-02.

related that she had been stopped for investigation of a possible domestic violence dispute when she was in a car driven by Boyle. 2RP 157-58. Morrison was one of the officers involved in the stop, but he had no memory of the incident. 2RP 137, 158-59. The stop occurred only two months after Officer Morrison was purportedly threatened by Boyle. 2RP 75, 138, 159.

The jury found Boyle not guilty of felony harassment based upon threats to kill and guilty of felony harassment of a criminal justice participant. CP 120. Prior to sentencing, Boyle moved for a new trial based upon jury misconduct and jury instructions that reduced the State's proof of a statutory requirement of harassment of a criminal justice participant. CP 342-45, 354-68, 417-19; 12/28/12 RP 4-8; 1/11/13 RP 4-17. The motion was denied. CP 420-22; 12/28/12 RP 12-13; 1/11/13 RP 17-19.

The court sentenced Boyle to 16 months incarceration, the high end of the standard sentence range. CP 424-25; 1/18/13 RP 7-8. This appeal follows. CP 434-36.

E. ARGUMENT

1. Boyle's conviction must be reversed because the State did not prove every element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.

Kayne Boyle was convicted of felony harassment of a criminal justice participant for comments he made to a police officer who arrested him for driving while under the influence of alcohol and took him to jail. None of the comments were direct threats to harm the officer, but rather expressed Boyle's political view that police officers were properly in danger from attack by citizens. Boyle was drunk, handcuffed and in police custody when he made them. The State did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt (1) that a reasonable person in Boyle's position would understand his comments would be perceived as a threat to harm the officer or his family, (2) that a reasonable police officer in Morrison's position would interpret Boyle's statements as a genuine threat, or (3) that it appeared to the officer that Boyle had the present and future ability to carry out any threats. His conviction must therefore be revered and dismissed.

a. A criminal conviction must be based upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every element of the crime. The due process clauses of the federal and state constitutions forbid conviction for a

crime unless the State proves every element of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt. U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. I §§ 3, 22; Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 471, 477, 120 S. Ct. 2348, 147 L. Ed. 2d 435 (2000). On appellate review, the court looks at the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution to determine if a rational trier of fact could have found the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 334, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979); State v. Smith, 155 Wn.2d 496, 501, 120 P.3d 559 (2005). Because the crime of harassment implicates First Amendment rights, the appellate courts must conduct "an independent review of the whole record" to insure the conviction "does not constitute a forbidden intrusion on the field of free expression." State v. Kilburn, 151 Wn.2d 36, 50, 52, 84 P.3d 1215 (2004) (quoting Bose Corp. v. Consumers Union of U.S., Inc., 466 U.S. 485, 508, 104 S. Ct. 1949, 80 L. Ed. 2d 502 (1984)). This involves independent review of the "crucial facts necessary to the legal determination of whether speech is protected." Id. at 51.

Boyle was convicted of one count of felony harassment of a participant in the criminal justice system, RCW 9A.46.020(1), (2)(b);

CP 69-72, 120. The statute first sets forth the elements of misdemeanor harassment. It states in relevant part:

A person is guilty of harassment if:

- (a) Without lawful authority, the person knowingly threatens:
- (i) To cause bodily injury immediately or in the future to the person threatened or to any another person; or . . .
- (iv) To maliciously do any act that was intended to substantially harm the person threatened or another with respect to his or her physical or mental health or safety; and
- (b) The person by words or conduct places the person threatened in reasonable fear that the threat will be carried out. "Words and conduct" includes, in addition to any other form of communication or conduct, the sending of an electronic communication.

RCW 9A.46.020(1).

The crime is elevated to a felony if the defendant harasses a criminal justice participant. RCW 9A.46.020(2)(b)(iii), (iv). The statute reads

A person who harasses another is guilty of a class C felony if any of the following apply: . . . (iii) the person harasses a criminal justice participant who is performing his or her official duties at the time the threat is made; or (iv) the person harasses a criminal justice participant because of an action taken or decision made by the criminal justice participant during the performance of his or her official duties.

RCW 9A.46.020(2)(b). Two additional requirements apply in a prosecution for harassment of a criminal justice participant:

For the purposes of (b)(iii) and (iv) of this subsection, the fear from the threat must be a reasonable fear that a reasonable criminal justice participant would have under all the circumstances. Threatening words do not constitute harassment if it is apparent to the criminal justice participant that the person does not have the present and future ability to carry out the threat.

RCW 9A.46.020(2)(b). A police officer is a criminal justice participant. RCW 9A.46.020(3).

An independent review of the critical facts of this case demonstrates that (1) Boyle's threats were not "true threats" because a reasonable person in his position would not believe that the comments would place the police officer in fear that he would be injured, (2) the officer knew Boyle did not have the present ability to carry out the purported threats, and (3) there was no evidence that a reasonable police officer in Officer Morrison's position would be afraid that Boyle would injure him.

b. The State failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that

Boyle's statements were a "true threat" that was not entitled to First

Amendment protection. The First Amendment protects the right of an individual to freely express himself in order to permit the free exchange

of ideas necessary for a democracy, even if the ideas are distasteful or offensive. U.S. Const. amends. I, XIV; Virginia v. Black, 538 U.S. 343, 358, 123 S. Ct. 1536, 155 L. Ed. 2d 535 (2003); New York Times Co. v. Sullivan, 376 U.S. 254, 269-70, 84 S. Ct. 710, 11 L. Ed. 2d 686 (1964) (noting national commitment to permitting robust public debate that may include vehement and even sharp attacks). Article I, section 5 of the Washington Constitution similarly guarantees the right to freely express ideas. The right to free speech is both a fundamental right and a key to ensuring the exercise of other constitutional rights. Nelson v. McClatchy Newspapers, Inc., 131 Wn.2d 523, 535-36, 936 P.2d 1123, cert. denied, 522 U.S. 866 (1997).

Some speech, however, is exempt from First Amendment protections, including "true threats." Black, 538 U.S. at 359; Watts v. United States, 394 U.S. 705, 708, 89 S. Ct. 1399, 22 L.Ed.2d 664 (1969). Washington defines a "true threat" as "a statement made in a

⁴ The First Amendment states, in pertinent part, "Congress shall make no law . . . abridging the freedom of speech, or of the press; or the right of the people peaceably to assemble, and to petition the Government for redress of grievances." The First Amendment is applicable to the states through the Fourteenth Amendment. <u>Black</u>, 538 U.S. at 358.

⁵ Article I, section 5 reads, "Every person may freely speak, write and publicly on all subjects, being responsible for the abuse of that right."

⁶ The United States Supreme Court has not provided a definitive definition of the term "true threats," but held they include "those statements where the speaker means to communicate a serious expression of an intent to commit an act of unlawful violence to a particular individual or group of individuals." <u>Black</u>, 538 U.S. at 359.

context or under circumstances wherein a reasonable person would foresee that the statement would be interpreted as a serious expression of intention to inflict bodily harm upon or to take the life of another person." Kilburn, 151 Wn.2d at 43 (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting State v. Williams, 144 Wn.2d 197, 208-09, 26 P.3d 890 (2001)). Thus, the speech is viewed from the point of view of a reasonable person in the position of the speaker. Id. at 44.

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