NO. 44447-0-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

KANE BOYLE,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF KITSAP COUNTY, STATE OF WASHINGTON Superior Court No. 12-1-00416-0

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

RUSSELL D. HAUGE Prosecuting Attorney

JEREMY A. MORRIS Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

614 Division Street Port Orchard, WA 98366 (360) 337-7174

SERVICE

David L. Donnan & Elaine L. Winters 1511 3rd Avenue Suite 701 Seattle, WA 98101-3647

Email: david@washapp.org elaine@washapp.org

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

The Defendant specifically argues that RCW 9A.46.020(2)(b) "clearly states that the threatening words only constitute harassment if it is apparent to the criminal justice participant that the defendant has the present and future ability to carry out the threat." App.'s Br. at 30. The plain language of the statute, however, does not support the Defendant's claim.

The actual sentence from the statute that is at issue, however, is not expressed in the positive and does not state what the State is required to prove. Rather, the sentence is expressed in the negative and explains what does **not** constitute harassment. As the trial court found, the plain language can be simply read to say nothing more than that:

Threatening words do not constitute harassment if it is apparent to the criminal justice participant that:

the person does not have the present ability to carry out the threat; AND

the person does not have the future ability to carry out the threat.

The trial court noted that as the sentence was expressed in the negative it created an exception and merely meant that it is not harassment if the defendant "Doesn't have the present ability and if he doesn't have the future ability. But if he has either the present ability or the future ability, then it is felony harassment." RP 187-88. The trial court further explained,

So I think what the legislature meant to say there is that threats do not constitute a harassment if the officer knows that the person does not have the present ability and it is not harassment if the person does not have the future ability. But if he has either the present or the future ability, the threat is real. I can't believe that the legislature would have any other thoughts about that.

RP 194-95.

The trial court's reading of the statute was consistent with the plain language of the statute because the statute states that it is not harassment if is apparent to the criminal justice participant that the person "does not have the present and future ability to carry out the threat." RCW 9A.46.020(2)(b). Thus if the criminal justice participant believed that that the defendant could never carry out the threat, then it is not harassment,

even if the threat itself was frightening or offensive. In essence, the statute explains that only credible threats are actionable, as the trial court found. RP 195.8

For instance, if an offender serving a life sentence sent word to a police officer that the offender was going to personally kill the officer, the officer may find the threat upsetting and perhaps even frightening. Nevertheless, if the officer knew that the offender was in prison serving a life sentence, then it would be apparent to the officer that the offender does not have the present ability to carry out the threat and does not have the future ability to carry out the threat. Thus it would not constitute harassment.

The Defendant's reading, of the statute, however, misconstrues its meaning. Under the Defendant's reading, the defendant must have *both* the present ability to carryout the threat and the future ability to carry out the threat. Such a reading, however, would render much of the harassment statute absurd.

The statute, for instance, clearly makes it a crime to threaten to cause bodily injury "immediately or in the future" to the person threatened

⁸ The trial court's "to-convict" instruction actually required the State to prove that "It was apparent to Stephen Morrison that the defendant had the ability to carry out the threat." CP 114. The "to-convict" instruction also required the jury to find "That the words or conduct of the defendant placed Stephen Morrison in such a fear that a reasonable criminal justice participant would have that the threat would be carried out." CP 114. As

or to "any other person," and the defendant must also by words or conduct place the person threatened "in reasonable fear that the threat will be carried out." RCW 9A.46.020(1). The statute further provides that "words or conduct" includes messages sent by electronic communication. RCW 9A.46.020(1)(b). These provisions make it clear that the intent of the statute is to criminalize threats to commit harm either immediately or in the future. The fact that threats sent by electronic communication can suffice only further demonstrates that threats of future harm are included, since a personal will rarely, if ever, be in a position to immediately carry out a threat communicated over electronic means.

Furthermore, in addition to expressly criminalizing threats to cause injury "in the future," the statute provides that it is a crime to threaten to commit harm to third parties. In addition this Court has previously explained that neither RCW 9A.46.020 nor the definition of 'threat' in RCW 9A.04.110 requires the State to prove a "nonconditional present threat." *Cross*, 156 Wn.App. at 582; *Edwards*, 84 Wn.App. at 12.

The trial court's reading of the statute is entirely consistent with the other provisions of the statute and with the caselaw mentioned above. Under the trial court's reading, it is not harassment if the criminal justice participant does not reasonably believe that the defendant could ever carry

the law requires nothing more, the Defendant has failed to show error.

out the threat. That is, it is not harassment if the defendant did not have the present ability to carry out the threat and does not have the future ability to carry out the threat. If, however, the defendant could carry out the threat either immediately or in the future, then the crime has been committed.

A contrary reading would lead to a number of absurd results. For instance,

All threats that are not conveyed in person would not qualify, since there would not be a "present" ability to carry out the threat.

All threats to harm non-present third parties (such as an officer's wife or children) would not qualify, since there would not be a "present" ability to carry out the threat.

All threats to carry out some future threat would not qualify, since there would not be a "present" ability to carry out the threat.

In short, the Defendant has failed to show that the trial court erred, as the trial court's reading of the statute was consistent with the plain language of the statute and was consistent with "the context of the statute in which the provision is found, related provisions, and the statutory scheme as a whole." The Defendant's claims, therefore must fail.

C. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN REJECTING THE **DEFENDANT'S** CLAIM OF JUROR MISCONDUCT **BECAUSE: (1)** THE DEFENDANT FAILED TO SHOW THAT THE JUROR IMPROPERLY HID INFORMATION THAT, IF REVEALED, WOULD HAVE SUPPORTED A CHALLENGE FOR CAUSE; AND (2) THE JUROR PROPERLY APPLIED HER LIFE **EXPERIENCES DURING DELIBERATIONS** AND DID NOT INTERJECT "HIGHLY **SPECIALIZED** INFORMATION THAT WAS OUTSIDE THE REALM OF A TYPICAL JUROR'S GENERAL LIFE EXPERIENCE."

Boyle next claims that the trial court erred by failing to grant his motion for a new trial based on alleged juror misconduct. This claim is without merit because the trial court's denial of the motion for a new trial was well within the broad discretion afforded to trial courts in this area.

An appellate court will disturb a trial court's decision to deny a new trial only for a clear abuse of that discretion or when it is predicated on an erroneous interpretation of the law. *State v. Cho*, 108 Wn.App. 315, 320, 30 P.3d 496 (2001); *State v. Briggs*, 55 Wn.App. 44, 60, 776 P.2d 1347 (1989). A trial court abuses its discretion when its decision is manifestly unreasonable, or exercised on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons. *State ex rel. Carroll v. Junker*, 79 Wn.2d 12, 26, 482 P.2d 775 (1971).

The test on a new trial motion is whether the movant can

demonstrate that information a juror failed to disclose in voir dire was material, and also that a truthful disclosure would have provided a basis for a challenge for cause. *Cho*, 198 Wn.App. at 321, citing *State v. Carlson*, 61 Wn.App. 865, 877, 812 P.2d 536 (1991), *review denied*, 120 Wn.2d 1022, 844 P.2d 1017 (1993); *State v. Briggs*, 55 Wn.App. 44, 52, 776 P.2d 1347 (1989); *In re the Personal Restraint of Lord*, 123 Wn.2d 296, 868 P.2d 835 (1994) ("Any misleading or false answers during voir dire require reversal only if accurate answers would have provided grounds for a challenge for cause"). 9

A challenge for cause may be based on bias, either actual or implied. See RCW 4.44.170(1) and (2); *Cho*, 198 Wn.App. at 324. Where a juror's responses on voir dire do not demonstrate actual bias, in exceptional cases the courts will draw a conclusive presumption of implied bias from the juror's factual circumstances. *Cho*, 198 Wn.App. at 325. An exceptional situation warranting implied bias can exist, for instance, if a prospective juror deliberately withholds information during

In the past, Washington cases had held that the test was whether a truthful disclosure would have provided a basis for a peremptory challenge. See, Cho, 108 Wn.App. at 321, citing State v. Simmons, 59 Wn.2d 381, 368 P.2d 378 (1962); Smith v. Kent, 11 Wn.App. 439, 523 P.2d 446 (1974). Those cases, however, predated the United States Supreme Court opinion in McDonough Power Equipment, Inc. v. Greenwood, 464 U.S. 548, 556, 104 S.Ct. 845, 78 L.Ed.2d 663 (1984), where the court held that a juror's material nondisclosure could be the basis for a new trial only if a correct response would have provided a valid basis for a challenge for cause. See, Cho, 108 Wn.App. at 321. After McDonough, Washington courts have applied this newer test. Cho, 108 Wn.App. at 323, citing Lord, 123 Wn.2d at 313 ("Any misleading or false answers during voir dire require reversal only if accurate answers would have provided grounds for a challenge for

voir dire in order to increase the likelihood of being seated on the jury. *Cho*, 198 Wn.App. at 325.

In the present case the trial court advised the jury that the defendant was charged with felony harassment based on threats to kill and felony harassment based on a threat made to a criminal justice participant. RP 14-15. At the post trial hearing, Juror #4 testified that although there were occasions at her work where she had been threatened by patients, she had not drawn a connection between what had happened to her and the charges in the case. RP (1/11) 4-5, 8-10. The trial court found the juror's testimony to be "truthful in every respect," and found that her experiences as a nurse was very dissimilar from a law enforcement officer and his family being threatened with death by an arrestee. RP (1/11) 17-18. The court thus found that the juror's failure to disclose this information when the court asked if any of the jurors had had similar experiences was not an "omission." RP (1/11) 18. Furthermore, there is nothing in the record that suggests that Juror #4 did not reveal this information in an attempt to be seated on the jury.

In addition, the Defendant has failed to establish that Juror #4's experiences at work, if they had been revealed in voir dire, would have formed the basis for a challenge for cause. To the contrary, Juror #4

cause").

denied the presence of any prejudice or anger based on her work experiences and the trial court found her testimony to be truthful in every respect." RP (1/11) 10, 17-18. The Defendant has failed to demonstrate any other facts demonstrating actual or implied bias. ¹⁰

The State acknowledges that the Court of Appeals has held that when a jury withholds material information and later employs that information during deliberations, then some "additional analysis is required. Specifically, "When a juror withholds material information during voir dire and then later injects that information into deliberations, the court must inquire into the prejudicial effect of the combined, as well as the individual, aspects of the juror's misconduct." *State v. Johnson*, 137 Wn.App. 862, 868–69, 155 P. 3d 183 (2007) (*citing State v. Briggs*, 55 Wn.App. 44, 53, 776 P.2d 1347 (1989)).

The Defendant, however, misconstrues this test as it applies to the present case. The only potentially material fact that the juror arguably failed to disclose was that she had been threatened at work. The analysis, therefore, is whether the fact that fact that Juror #4 did not

¹⁰ The Court of Appeals has explained that "Some examples might include a revelation that the juror is an actual employee of the prosecuting agency, that the juror is a close relative of one of the participants in the trial or the criminal transaction, or that the juror was a witness or somehow involved in the criminal transaction." *Cho*, 108 Wn.App. at 325 n. 5 (*quoting Smith v. Phillips*, 455 U.S. 209, 222, 102 S.Ct. 940, 71 L.Ed.2d 78 (1982) (O'Connor, J., concurring)). Clearly no such factual circumstance was present in the case at bar.

No generally questions were asked about jurors' experiences with note taking or the

disclose that she had been threatened along with her comments during deliberations improperly caused prejudicial effects.

The Defendant cites to *Johnson* and its language that the analysis should be an objective inquiry into the purpose for which the extraneous evidence was interjected into deliberations. App.'s Br. at 40, citing *Johnson*, 137 Wn.App. at 869. In *Johnson*, the defendant had been charged with rape and a juror had failed to disclose that her daughter had been the victim of date rape. *Johnson*, 137 Wn.App. at 866. During deliberations, the juror told other jurors that they "wouldn't understand" unless that had had the experience of their daughters being the victims of rape. *Id*. On appeal, the Court of Appeals found that the juror had injected her comment to generate sympathy for the testifying victim who claimed she had been raped. *Id* at 870.

In the present case, there is nothing in the record to suggest that Juror #4 engaged in any activity that comes close to the attempt to generate sympathy found in *Johnson*. Rather, at best the record shows that the juror merely discussed that when she is threatened at work she takes notes of the incident. This area of discussion was not a central issue to the present case and thus cannot be considered to have caused the same "prejudicial effect" as the juror's comments in *Johnson* which were

jurors' experiences with memory and recall.

designed to engender sympathy for a rape victim. In addition, Juror # 4's experiences with note taking and her memory were not issues that she failed to disclose as she was not asked about note taking or memory issues during voir dire. Rather the alleged nondisclosure related to the fact that she had been threatened at work and there is no evidence that Juror #4 highlighted or otherwise relied on this past experience during deliberations.

Furthermore, while it is jury misconduct for jurors to interject extrinsic evidence into the jury deliberations, jurors may, however, rely on their personal life experience to evaluate the evidence presented at trial during the deliberations. *Richards v. Overlake Hosp. Med. Ctr.*, 59 Wn.App. 266, 270, 274, 796 P.2d 737 (1990). And jurors are expected to bring opinions, insights, common sense, and everyday life experiences into deliberations. *State v. Carlson*, 61 Wn.App. 865, 878, 812 P.2d 536 (1991). Extrinsic evidence, by contrast, includes highly specialized information that is outside the realm of a typical juror's general life experience. *Richards*, 59 Wn.App. at 274.

In the present case, Juror # 4's personal experiences with note taking and with memory were not central to the case nor were they the type of "highly specialized information that is outside the realm of a typical juror's general life experience" that would qualify as extrinsic

evidence. In addition, the issue of note taking related only to the defense's brief cross examination of whether Officer Morrison had destroyed his notes after writing his report. The fact was not central to the defense case, as the defense did not directly challenge whether the statements had been made. Rather, the defense theory at trial was that it was not reasonable for Officer Morrison to be fearful of the Defendant's statements and that Officer Morrison actions did not demonstrate actual fear. *See* RP 227-38. This was the sole theme of the Defendant's closing argument, and the fact that the Defendant had made the actual statements was not challenged in any way. In addition, the issue of note taking was never even mentioned during closing argument. Any interjection by Juror #4 regarding her experiences with note taking was thus clearly harmless and caused no unfair prejudice.

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